



**ONLINE PAPER APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP AND ELECTRIC SERVICE**

The undersigned (hereinafter called the "Applicant") hereby applies for membership and agrees to purchase electric energy from Capital Electric Cooperative, Inc.(hereinafter called the "Cooperative"), and agree upon the terms and conditions (Page 2 of this document). The applicant acknowledges receipt of the by-laws and Statement of Non-discrimination from Capital Electric Cooperative, Inc. (Pages 3-12 of this document).

**MEMBER INFORMATION**

<b>Type of Membership (Select One):</b> <input type="checkbox"/> Residential <input type="checkbox"/> Business	<b>Type of Service (Select One):</b> <input type="checkbox"/> Existing Service <input type="checkbox"/> New Construction
---	---

**PART A: To Be Completed by Residential Applicants Only**

Applicant Name _____	Date of Birth _____/_____/_____	Social Security# _____
Applicant's Employer Name _____		Employer's Telephone Number _____
Applicant's Nationality (**Why provide this? See below on bottom right):		
<input type="checkbox"/> African American <input type="checkbox"/> American Indian <input type="checkbox"/> Caucasian <input type="checkbox"/> Oriental <input type="checkbox"/> Polynesian <input type="checkbox"/> Spanish American <input type="checkbox"/> Other		
Joint Applicant Name (If applicable) _____	Date of Birth _____/_____/_____	Social Security# _____
****JOINT APPLICANT IS ONLY VALID IF LEGALLY MARRIED TO THE APPLICANT****		

**PART B: To Be Completed by Business Applicants Only**

Company Name _____	Contact Person _____
Company's Fed Tax ID# _____	State and Date of Incorporation (If applicable) _____/_____/_____

**PART C: To Be Completed by ALL Applicants**

Mailing Address for Billing Purposes _____	
City _____	State _____ Zip Code _____
Telephone Number _____	Wireless Number _____
E-Mail Address _____	
Have you previously received service from Capital Electric? <input type="checkbox"/> Yes <input type="checkbox"/> No	
Do you own or Rent? <input type="checkbox"/> Own <input type="checkbox"/> Rent	
If you rent, please list the Landlord and Telephone Number _____	
If you own, please indicate all heating types:	
<input type="checkbox"/> Gas <input type="checkbox"/> Fuel Oil <input type="checkbox"/> Propane <input type="checkbox"/> Geothermal Heat Pump <input type="checkbox"/> Electric Boiler <input type="checkbox"/> Floor Heat <input type="checkbox"/> Unit Heater <input type="checkbox"/> Air-to-Air Heat Pump <input type="checkbox"/> Plenum Heater <input type="checkbox"/> Baseboard <input type="checkbox"/> Electric Furnace <input type="checkbox"/> Other _____ <input type="checkbox"/> Unknown	
<input type="checkbox"/> I would like to be contacted about how I can reduce my energy costs using electric heat.	
Date for Service to Begin: _____/_____/_____ (Capital Electric requires one day notice prior to Date for service to begin)	
Address of Electric Service _____	
Legal Description of Service (Subdivision, Block, Lot) _____	

**PART D: Operation Roundup (See Page 2 for more info)**

<input type="checkbox"/> I elect NOT to participate in the Operation Roundup charitable process by "rounding up" my electric bill to the nearest dollar.
--

**PART E: Pay By Bank Authorization (Optional)**

I authorize Capital Electric Cooperative and my Financial institution to initiate entries to debit my account described below. I understand that Capital Electric Cooperative will automatically deduct payment from my checking or savings account on the due date (approximately 10 days after I receive my bill).	
Signature _____	Date _____
Financial Institution _____	
Routing Number _____	
Account Number _____	
Account Type: <input type="checkbox"/> Checking (please enclose a voided check) <input type="checkbox"/> Savings (please enclose a deposit slip)	

**PART F: Sign up for E-Bill Now (Optional)**

By signing up for E-bill you will be able to inquire on your monthly statements, update your personal information, pay online, and much more.
E-mail Address _____
Password (minimum six characters; maximum of ten characters. Can be letters or numbers or both. No spaces). _____
Bill Format: <input type="checkbox"/> Hard Copy <input type="checkbox"/> E-mail <input type="checkbox"/> Both

**PART G: Signature(s)**

Applicant's Signature _____	Date _____
Joint Applicant's Signature (If Applicable) _____	Date _____

**\*\*Why Provide my Nationality?** As a participant in a Federal utilities financing program, Capital Electric Cooperative, Inc. is required to identify and document as accurately as possible, the racial/ethnic data on the eligible population in our service area. The information you provide will be used only for FEDERAL GOVERNMENT REPORTING PURPOSES and your response is optional.

<b>OFFICE USE ONLY</b>			
Account Number _____	By _____	Date Paid _____/_____/_____	Location Number _____

# ***Terms and Conditions***

1. The Applicant will pay to the Cooperative the sum of \$5.00 per service which, if the application is accepted by the Cooperative, will constitute the Service Connect Fee for each service. This fee is non-refundable.
2. The Applicant will, when energy becomes available, purchase from the Cooperative all such services used on the premises and will pay therefore monthly at rates to be determined from time to time in accordance with the by-laws of the Cooperative; provided, however, that the Cooperative may limit the amount of electric energy to be furnished for industrial uses. The Applicant will pay for all services in accordance with and subject to policies, rules and regulations of the Cooperative, established by the Board of Directors from time to time.
3. The Applicant will cause his/her service entrance and premises to be wired in accordance with wiring specifications approved by the Cooperative, national, state, and/or city electrical codes, and is responsible for individual safety precautions in and around all electrical lines.
4. The Applicant will comply with, and be bound by, the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and the by-laws of the Cooperative and all amendments and additions thereto and such policies, rules and regulations as may, from time to time, be adopted by the Cooperative.
5. The Applicant, by paying a Service Connect Fee and becoming a member, assumes no personal liability or responsibility for any debts or liabilities of the Cooperative, and it is expressly understood that under the law his or her private property is exempt from execution for any such debts or liabilities.
6. The Applicant further agrees that when the lines are built, as part consideration for the Cooperative's installation of the meter loop on the property described below, that such meter loop shall be deemed a part of the system and not a part of the Applicant's property. In such event, the Cooperative shall have the right to access the meter at all times and should the Applicant default in any of his/her obligations to the Cooperative, the Cooperative shall have the right to discontinue service without formal notice.
7. The Applicant agrees to permit the Cooperative to place, construct, operate, maintain, relocate, and replace thereon and in or upon all streets, roads, or highways abutting said lands an electric transmission or distribution line or system, the ownership of which shall be vested in the Cooperative, and to cut and trim trees and shrubbery to the extent necessary to keep them clear of said electric line or system and to cut down from time to time all weak, leaning or dangerous trees that are tall enough to strike the wires in falling. The Applicant agrees that employees of the Cooperative shall have the right of ingress and egress on said premises up to the location of the meter installation as long as any property of the Cooperative remains on said premises.
8. The Applicant also agrees to accept these terms and conditions for any additional service(s) applied for under this one (1) membership.
9. The Applicant understands that the electric service may be disconnected if any information furnished to the cooperative is found to be fraudulent.

## ***OPERATION ROUNDUP*** ***"Putting pennies to good use"***

As a member of Capital Electric Cooperative, Inc., you have the unique opportunity to assist worthy individuals and organizations in and around the Capital Electric service area by giving a few cents a month to "Operation Roundup". Operation Roundup operates on a simple premise; namely, by allowing your monthly electric billing from Capital Electric to be "rounded up" to the next nearest dollar, you and thousands of other Capital Electric members will, cooperatively, be using those pennies to benefit those in need, and it is tax deductible. For example, if your bill were \$33.62, it would be rounded up to \$34.00. You would be donating \$0.38 to the Capital Electric Charitable Trust that month.

A board of directors of the Capital Electric Charitable Trust is elected from the Capital Electric Cooperative member Advisory Board. The board of directors reviews the applications from the organizations and individuals in need and donates the money accordingly.





## **STATEMENT OF NONDISCRIMINATION**

Capital Electric Cooperative, Inc. is the recipient of Federal financing from the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA). The USDA prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or part of an individual's income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410, or call toll free (866) 632-9992 (voice) or (800) 877-8339 (TDD) or (866)377-8642 (relay voice users). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.



# BYLAWS

(AS AMENDED JUNE 2, 2004)

## PREAMBLE

The aim of Capital Electric Cooperative, Inc. (hereinafter called the "Cooperative") is to make electric energy available to all of its members at the lowest cost consistent with sound economic management.

## BY-LAWS

### ARTICLE I

#### MEMBERSHIP

**Section 1. Requirements for Membership.** Any person, firm, association, corporation, or body politic or subdivision thereof will become a member of Capital Electric Cooperative, Inc., (hereinafter called the "Cooperative") upon receipt of electric service from the Cooperative, provided that he or it has first:

- (a) Made a written application for membership therein;
- (b) Agreed to purchase from the Cooperative electric energy as hereinafter specified;
- (c) Agreed to comply with and be bound by the Articles of Incorporation and By-laws of the Cooperative and any rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Directors.

No member may hold more than one membership in this Cooperative, and no membership shall be transferable, except as provided in these By-laws.

**Section 2. Evidence of Membership.** Membership in this Cooperative shall be evidenced by purchase and payment for electric service from the Cooperative, and by becoming listed on the books of the Cooperative as a member.

**Section 3. Joint Membership.** A husband and wife may apply for a joint membership and, subject to their compliance with the requirements set forth in Section 1 of this Article, may be accepted for such membership. The term "member" as used in these By-laws shall be deemed to include a husband and wife holding a joint membership and any provisions relating to the rights and liabilities of membership shall apply equally with respect to the holders of a joint membership. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the effect of the hereinafter specified actions by or in respect to the holders of a joint membership is as follows:

- (a) The presence at the meeting of either or both shall be regarded as the presence of one member and shall have the effect of constituting a joint waiver of notice of the meeting;
- (b) The vote of either separately or both jointly shall constitute one vote;
- (c) A waiver of notice signed by either or both shall constitute a joint waiver;
- (d) Notice to either shall constitute notice to both;
- (e) Expulsion of either shall terminate the joint membership;
- (f) Withdrawal of either shall terminate the joint membership;
- (g) Either but not both may be elected or appointed as an officer or director, provided that both meet qualifications for such office.

#### **Section 4. Conversion of Membership.**

- (a) A membership may be converted to a joint membership upon the written request of the holder thereof and the agreement by such holder and his or her spouse to comply with the Articles of Incorporation, By-laws, and rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Directors, as hereinafter provided.
- (b) Upon the death of either spouse who is a party to the joint membership, such membership shall be held solely by the survivor; provided, however, that the estate of the deceased shall not be released from any debts due to the Cooperative.
- (c) Upon the legal separation or divorce of the holders of a joint membership, such membership shall continue to be held solely by the one who continues to purchase electric service from the Cooperative at the same place of service, in the same manner, and to the same effect as though such membership had never been joint; provided, however, that the other spouse shall not be released from any debts due to the Cooperative.

**Section 5. Service Deposits and Deductions.** The Board of Directors may require a charge for each service connection, extension or other available service, pursuant to reasonable rules, regulations and policies adopted by the Board. Before any funds are paid by the Cooperative to a member, or former member, the amount of any debts owing from the member or former member to the Cooperative shall be deducted there from.

**Section 6. Purchase of Electric Energy.** Each member shall, as soon as electric energy shall be available, purchase from the Cooperative electric energy used on the premises and shall pay therefore, at monthly rates which shall from time to time be fixed by the Board of Directors, provided, however, that the Board of Directors may limit the amount of electric energy which the Cooperative shall be required to furnish to any one member. Each member shall pay to the Cooperative such minimum amount per month, regardless of the amount of electric energy consumed, as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors from time to time. Each member shall also pay all amounts owed by him to the Cooperative when the same shall become due and payable.

#### **Section 7. Termination of Membership.**

- (a) Membership in this Cooperative shall automatically terminate when the member ceases to purchase and maintain electric service from the Cooperative.
- (b) The death of an individual human member shall automatically terminate his membership, except that upon the death of either spouse of a joint membership, the membership shall continue to be held solely by the survivor. The cessation of the legal existence of any other type of member shall automatically terminate such membership; provided, that upon dissolution for any reason of a partnership, such membership shall continue to be held solely by such remaining partner or partners as were parties to the original membership and continue directly to occupy or use the premises served by this Cooperative.
- (c) Any member may withdraw from membership upon compliance with such uniform terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may prescribe.
- (d) The Board may, by the affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of all the members of the Board of Directors, expel any member who fails to comply with any of the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, By-laws, or rules or regulations adopted by the Board of Directors, (and regardless of whether or not such member continues to purchase electric service from the Cooperative), but only if such member shall have been given written notice by the Cooperative that such failure makes him liable to expulsion and such failure shall have continued for at least ten days after such notice was given. An expelled member may again become a member only by reinstatement by a vote of the Board or by vote of the members at any annual or special meeting.
- (e) Upon the termination in any manner of a membership, the member shall be entitled to refund of any refundable deposits still held by the Cooperative, less any amounts due the Cooperative; but neither he nor his estate shall be released from any debts then remaining due the Cooperative.

## **ARTICLE II**

### **RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF MEMBERS**

**Section 1. Property Interest of Members.** Upon dissolution, after (a) all debts and liabilities of the Cooperative shall have been paid, and (b) all capital furnished through patronage shall have been retired as provided in these By-laws, the remaining property and assets of this Cooperative shall be distributed among members and former members within the twenty years preceding such dissolution in the proportion which the aggregate patronage of each bears to the total patronage of all members within the twenty years preceding such dissolution, unless otherwise provided by law.

**Section 2. Nonliability for Debts of the Cooperative.** The private property of the members shall be exempt from the execution or other liability for the debts of the Cooperative and no member shall be individually liable for or responsible for any debts or liabilities of the Cooperative.

**ARTICLE III**  
**MEETINGS OF MEMBERS**

**Section 1. Annual Meeting.** The annual meeting of the members shall be held during the month of June of each calendar year at such place in the County of Burleigh or the southern ten townships of Sheridan County, State of North Dakota, as shall be designated in the notice of meeting for the purpose of electing directors, passing upon reports for the previous year and transacting such other business as may come before the meeting. Failure to hold the annual meeting at the designated time shall not work a forfeiture or dissolution of the Cooperative.

**Section 2. Special Meetings.** Special meetings of the members may be called by resolution of the Board of Directors, or upon a written request signed by any three directors, by the president, or by ten percent or more of all the members, and it shall thereupon be the duty of the secretary to cause notice of such meeting to be given as hereinafter provided. Special meetings of the members may be held at any place within the project area of the Cooperative, specified in the notice of the special meeting.

**Section 3. Notice of Members' Meeting.** Written or printed notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting, and in case of a special meeting or an annual meeting at which business other than that listed in Section 3 of this Article is to be transacted, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered not less than ten days nor more than thirty days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the secretary, or upon a default in duty by the secretary, by the persons calling the meeting, to each member. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail, addressed to the member at his address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative, with postage thereon prepaid, in case of a joint membership, notice given to either husband or wife shall be deemed notice to both. The failure of any member to receive notice of an annual or special meeting of the members shall not invalidate any action which may be taken by the members at any such meeting.

**Section 4. Quorum.** As long as the number of members does not exceed five hundred, ten percent of the total number of members present in person shall constitute a quorum. In case the total number of members shall exceed five hundred, seventy-five members shall constitute a quorum. If less than a quorum is present at any meeting, a majority of those present in person may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice. Provided, however, that the secretary shall notify any absent members of the time and place of such adjourned meeting if such adjournment shall be to another calendar day.

**Section 5. Voting.**

- (a) Each member shall be entitled to one vote and no more upon each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of the members.
- (b) All questions will be decided by vote of a majority of the members voting thereon in person, except as otherwise provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or these By-laws.
- (c) Where a husband and wife hold a joint membership, they shall be jointly entitled to one vote and no more upon each matter submitted to a vote at the meeting of the members. The vote of either separately, or both jointly, shall constitute one joint vote.
- (d) Signed votes may be used only when specifically authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors. When so authorized, signed votes shall be valid and entitled to the same force and effect as a vote in person if the member has been previously notified in writing of the exact motion or resolution upon which the vote is taken.
- (e) At all meetings of members, voting by proxy shall not be allowed, because, to the greatest extent practicable, the presence of each member is desired at all meeting of the membership and proxy voting has the tendency to discourage actual attendance at membership meetings.
- (f) In the absence of written notice that some person has been designated to represent a member who is other than a natural person, such member may be represented by any of its principal officers. If a member who is other than a natural person is not represented by any of its principal officers, such member may designate a natural person to represent it by giving the Cooperative a written notice at or before the member meeting, which shows that the named representative has been authorized by the managing board of such member to represent it at the meeting of the Cooperative. An individual may represent only one non-natural member, and may also vote as an individual if he is a member.

**Section 6. Order of Business.** The presiding officer may adopt any order of business which provides an opportunity for full consideration of all matters to come before the meeting, subject to any proper action by the members assembled to change the order of business. Unless such a different order of business is adopted by the president, or the members assembled, the order of business at the annual meeting of the members, and so far as possible at all other meetings of the members, shall be as follows:

1. Report as to members present in order to determine the existence of a quorum;
2. Reading of the notice of the meeting and proof of the due publication of mailing thereof, or the waiver or waivers of notice of the meeting, as the case may be;
3. Reading of unapproved minutes of previous meetings of the members and the taking of necessary action thereon;

4. Presentation and consideration of, and acting upon, reports of officers, directors, and committees;
5. Election of directors;
6. Unfinished business;
7. New Business; and
8. Adjournments.

**Section 7. Voting Districts.** Beginning with the annual membership meeting in the year 2005, the territory served or to be served by the Cooperative shall be divided into two (2) districts, one to be called "District 1" and one to be called "District 2." District 2 shall be further divided into two (2) sub districts, one to be called "Sub district 2A" and one to be called "Sub district 2B", to be defined as follows:

**DISTRICT 1**

Township 138-78	Boyd	Burleigh County
Township 138-79	Apple Creek	Burleigh County
Township 138-80	Lincoln	Burleigh County
Township 137-78	Telfer	Burleigh County
Township 137-79	Missouri	Burleigh County
Township 137-80	Fort Rice	Burleigh County
Township 136-78		Emmons County
Township 136-79		Emmons County

**DISTRICT 2  
SUBDISTRICT 2A**

Township 146-74	Goodrich	Sheridan County
Township 146-75	Denhoff	Sheridan County
Township 146-76	Lamont	Sheridan County
Township 146-77	McClusky	Sheridan County
Township 146-78	Pickard	Sheridan County
Township 145-74	Mauch	Sheridan County
Township 145-75	Sperry	Sheridan County
Township 145-76	Whittaker	Sheridan County
Township 145-77	John's Lake	Sheridan County
Township 145-78	Edgemont	Sheridan County
Township 144-75	Hazel Grove	Burleigh County
Township 144-76	Florence Lake	Burleigh County
Township 144-77	Schrunk	Burleigh County
Township 144-78	Steiber	Burleigh County
Township 144-79	Wilson	Burleigh County
Township 143-75	Phoenix	Burleigh County
Township 143-76	Richmond	Burleigh County
Township 143-77	Canfield	Burleigh County
Township 143-78	Estherville	Burleigh County
Township 143-79	Grass Lake	Burleigh County
Township 142-75	Harriet	Burleigh County
Township 142-76	Wing	Burleigh County
Township 142-77	Rock Hill	Burleigh County
Township 142-78	Ghylin	Burleigh County
Township 142-79	Ecklund	Burleigh County
Township 142-80	Painted Woods	Burleigh County
Township 142-81	Painted Woods	Burleigh County

**SUBDISTRICT 2B**

Township 141-75	Lein	Burleigh County
Township 141-76	Lyman	Burleigh County
Township 141-77	Trygg	Burleigh County
Township 141-78	Cromwell	Burleigh County
Township 141-79	Crofte	Burleigh County
Township 141-80	Glenview	Burleigh County
Township 141-81	Riverview	Burleigh County
Township 140-75	Clear Lake	Burleigh County
Township 140-76	Christiania	Burleigh County
Township 140-77	Sibley Butte	Burleigh County
Township 140-78	Frances	Burleigh County
Township 140-79	Naughton	Burleigh County
Township 140-80	Burnt Creek	Burleigh County

Township 140-81	Riverview	Burleigh County
Township 139-75	Driscoll	Burleigh County
Township 139-76	Sterling	Burleigh County
Township 139-77	McKenzie	Burleigh County
Township 139-78	Menoken	Burleigh County
Township 139-79	Gibbs	Burleigh County
Township 139-80	Hay Creek	Burleigh County
Township 139-81	Hay Creek	Burleigh County
Township 138-75	Thelma	Burleigh County
Township 138-76	Taft	Burleigh County
Township 138-77	Logan	Burleigh County
Township 137-75	Wild Rose	Burleigh County
Township 137-76	Long Lake	Burleigh County
Township 137-77	Morton	Burleigh County
Township 136-76	Dana	Emmons County
Township 136-77	Buchanan Valley	Emmons County

**ARTICLE IV**  
**DIRECTORS**

**Section 1. General Powers.** The business and affairs of the Cooperative shall be managed by a board of nine directors which shall exercise all of the powers of the Cooperative except such as are By-laws, the Articles of Incorporation or these By-laws conferred upon or reserved to the members.

**Section 2. Qualifications and Tenure.** No person shall be eligible to become or remain a director or to hold any position of trust in the Cooperative who:

- (a) is not a member and bonafide resident in the area served by the Cooperative; or in the district which he is to represent; or
- (b) is in any way employed by or financially interested in a competing enterprise or a business selling electric energy or supplies to the Cooperative, or business primarily engaged in selling electrical fixtures or supplies to the members of the Cooperative.

Upon establishment of the fact that a director is holding office in violation of any of the foregoing provisions, it shall immediately become incumbent upon the Board of Directors to remove such director from office.

Nothing contained in this section shall affect in any matter whatsoever the validity of any action taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors, unless such action is taken with respect to a matter in which one or more of the directors have an undisclosed interest adverse to that of the Cooperative.

**Section 3. Nominations and Elections.**

- (a) **Nomination of Directors:** It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to appoint, not less than thirty days nor more than one hundred twenty days before the date of the meeting of the members at which directors are to be elected, a committee on nominations consisting of not more than eleven members who shall be selected from each of the districts so as to insure equitable representation. No member of the Board of Directors may serve on such a committee. The committee shall prepare and post at the principal office of the Cooperative at least thirty five days before the meeting a list of nominations for directors. It is recommended that at least two candidates be nominated from "District 1" and at least four candidates be nominated from "District 2" by the committee. The committee shall nominate candidates that provide for a dispersed geographical representation within the respective districts. Any fifteen or more members acting together may make other nominations by petition not less than thirty days prior to the meeting and the secretary shall post such nominations at the same place where the list of nominations made by the committee is posted. The secretary shall mail with the notice of the meeting, a statement of the number of directors to be elected and the names and addresses of the candidates. The names shall be arranged by districts, and/or sub districts, and shall specify separately the nominations made by the committee on nominations and also the nominations made by petition, if any. Nothing contained herein shall, however, prevent additional nominations from the floor at the meetings of the members. The members may, at any meeting at which director or directors shall be removed as hereinbefore provided, elect a successor or successors thereto without compliance with the foregoing provisions with respect to nominations, except that the new director must reside in the same district as the directors in respect to whom the vacancy occurs. Notwithstanding anything contained in this section, failure to comply with any of the provisions of this section shall not affect in any manner whatsoever the validity of any election of directors.

**Election of Directors.** Election of directors shall be by printed ballot. The ballots shall list the candidates nominated by the committee on nominations and by petitions, if any, arranged by districts, and/or sub districts. A candidate nominated from the floor of the meeting may be voted for by writing in the name of such candidate beneath the names of the candidates nominated by the committee on nominations and by petitions, if any, of the particular district, and/or sub district. Each member of the Cooperative present in person at the annual meeting shall be entitled to vote for one candidate from "District 1" and two candidates from "District 2". Beginning with the annual membership meeting in the year 2005, at least two directors from "District 2" shall reside in Sub district 2A and at least two directors shall reside in Sub district 2B. In the

event the minimum geographical disparity requirement is not met, then only members who reside in the sub district with a vacancy or vacancies may be nominated and elected. Directors shall be nominated and elected first to fill the sub district vacancies, if any, on the Board of Directors as the same shall fall vacant in the year 2005, as the Board of Directors is then constituted. The candidate(s) receiving the highest number of votes in a vacant sub district, if any, shall be deemed to be elected director from that sub district and district. As soon as the Board of Directors has achieved the minimum geographical disbursement required, remaining vacancies, if any, on the Board in "District 2" shall be elected at large and the candidate receiving the highest number of votes cast shall be deemed elected. Annually thereafter, vacancies in "District 2" on the Board shall be filled in a like manner, with minimum sub district vacancies filled first, followed by election of remaining directors, if any, at large. The candidate receiving the highest number of votes cast for the candidates in "District 1" shall be deemed to be elected from that district. A director shall be elected for a three-year term and until his successor shall have been elected and qualified.

The presiding officer at each annual meeting of the members shall appoint an election board to consist of three members from "District 1" and six members from "District 2," present at such meeting, and in the event of a tie vote, the election shall be determined by lot in such manner as shall be selected or determined by said election board.

**Section 4. Removal of Directors by Members.** Any member may bring charges against a director by filing such charges in writing with the secretary, together with a petition signed by at least ten percent of the members and request the removal of such director by reason thereof. The director against whom such charges have been brought shall be informed in writing of the charges at least twenty days prior to the meeting at which the charges are to be considered and have an opportunity at the meeting to be heard in person or by counsel and to present evidence in respect to the charges; and the person or persons bringing the charges against him shall have the same opportunity. The question of the removal of such director shall be voted upon at the next regular or special meeting of the members and any vacancy created by such removal may be filled by vote of the members at such meeting without compliance with the foregoing provisions with respect to nominations; provided that the director must reside in the same district as the director in respect to whom the vacancy occurs.

**Section 5. Vacancies.** Subject to the provisions of these By-laws with respect to the filling of vacancies caused by the removal of directors by the members, a vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors shall be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors for the unexpired portion of the term of the director in respect of whom the vacancy occurs. The member elected as director to fill the vacancy must reside in the same district as the director to whose office he succeeds.

**Section 6. Compensation.** Directors shall not receive any salary for their services as directors, but by resolution of the Board of Directors, a reasonable fixed sum per diem and expenses of attendance, if any, may be allowed for attendance at each area, regional, national and other meetings on behalf of the Cooperative where attendance is specifically authorized by prior action of the Board of Directors. No director shall receive compensation for serving the Cooperative in any other capacity, nor shall any close relative of a director receive compensation for serving the Cooperative, unless the payment and amount of compensation shall be specifically authorized by a vote of the members, or the service by such director or close relative shall have been certified by action of the other members of the Board of Directors as an emergency measure.

## ARTICLE V

### MEETING OF DIRECTORS

**Section 1. Regular Meetings.** A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without notice other than this By-law, immediately after, and at the same place as the annual meeting of the members. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall also be held monthly at such time and place in the Capital Electric Cooperative service area, as the Board of Directors may provide by resolution. Such regular monthly meeting may be held without notice other than such resolution fixing the time and place thereof.

**Section 2. Special Meetings.** Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the president, by any three directors, or by any person authorized to do so by prior action of the Board of Directors. The person or persons calling the meeting shall fix the time and place within the State of North Dakota for the holding of the meeting and shall cause notice of such meeting to be given as hereinafter provided.

**Section 3. Notice of Directors Meetings.** Written notice of the time and place of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given not less than five days prior thereto, either personally or by mail to each director. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United States Mail addressed to the director at his address as it appears on the records of the Cooperative, with postage thereon prepaid. The attendance of a director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice at such meeting, except when a director attends the meeting and objects thereto to the transaction of business because the meeting was not lawfully convened. A signed waiver is equivalent to personal notice to the person so signing.

**Section 4. Quorum.** A majority of the directors in office shall constitute a quorum, provided, that, if less than such majority of the directors is present at said meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time; and provided further, that the secretary shall cause notice to any absent director of the time and place of any adjourned meeting. The act of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors.

**Section 5. Manner of Acting.** Any action which may be taken at a meeting of the directors may be taken without a meeting if a writing setting forth and approving the action taken shall be signed by all of the directors entitled to vote upon such action. In such cases, such consent shall have the same force and effect as if a meeting had been held.

**Section 6. Rules and Regulations.** The Board of Directors shall have power to make and adopt such rules, regulations and policies, not inconsistent with law, the Articles of Incorporation of the Cooperative, or these By-laws, as it may deem advisable for the management, administration, and regulation of the business and affairs of the Cooperative. Among such powers the Board of Directors shall have the power to establish reasonable classifications of business done with patrons, according to the type or nature thereof, for the purpose of regulating rates and charges for electric service and allocating capital credits to patrons.

## ARTICLE VI

### OFFICERS

**Section 1. Number.** The officers of the Cooperative shall be president, vice-president, secretary-treasurer, and assistant secretary-treasurer, and such other officers as may be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time. Each principal officer must be a director of the Cooperative.

**Section 2. Election and Term of Office.** The officers shall be elected annually by and from the Board of Directors at the meeting of the Board of Directors held directly after the annual meeting of the members. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as conveniently may be. Each officer shall hold office until his successor shall have been elected and shall have qualified, or until he shall have been removed from office as approved by these By-laws. A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

**Section 3. Removal of Officers and Agents by Directors.** Any officer or agent elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interest of the Cooperative will be served thereby. In addition, any member of the Cooperative may bring charges against an officer by filing such charges in writing with the secretary, together with a petition signed by ten percent of the members and request the removal of the particular officer by reason thereof.

The officer against whom such charges have brought shall be informed, in writing, of the charges of least twenty days prior to the meeting at which the charges are to be considered and shall have an opportunity at the meeting to be heard in person or by counsel and to present evidence in respect of the charges; and the person or persons bringing the charges against him shall have the same opportunity. The question of the removal of such officer shall be voted upon at the next regular or special meeting of the members.

**Section 4. Vacancies.** A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors for the expired portion of the term of such officer.

**Section 5. President.** The president shall:

- (a) be the principal, executive officer of the Cooperative and, unless otherwise determined by the members of the Board of Directors, shall preside at all meetings of the members and the Board of Directors.
- (b) may sign any deeds, mortgages, deeds of trusts, notes, bonds, contracts, or other instruments executed on behalf of the Cooperative, except in cases in which the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these By-laws to some other officer or agent of the Cooperative, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed; and
- (c) in general perform all duties incident to the office of president and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

**Section 6. Vice-President.** In the absence of the president, or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, the vice-president shall perform the duties of the president, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the president. The vice-president shall also perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board of Directors.

**Section 7. Secretary-Treasurer. (Assistant Secretary-Treasurer).** The Secretary-Treasurer (or in his absence or refusal to act, the Assistant Secretary-Treasurer) shall:

- (a) cause the minutes of the meetings of the members, of the Board of Directors, and of any special executive committee to be kept in one or more books provided by the Cooperative for that purpose;
- (b) cause all notices to be duly given in accordance with these By-laws or as required by law;
- (c) affix the seal of the Cooperative to all documents the execution of which on behalf of the Cooperative under its seal is duly authorized in accordance with the provisions of these By-laws;
- (d) supervise the custody of the records and funds of the Cooperative;
- (e) cause to be kept a register of the names and post office addresses of all of the members of the Cooperative;
- (f) in general perform all duties incident to the office of secretary-treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board of Directors.

**Section 8. Manager.** The Board of Directors shall appoint a manager who may be, but who shall not be, required to be a member of the Cooperative; the manager shall perform such duties and shall exercise such authority as the Board of Directors may from time to time vest in him.

**Section 9. Bonds of Officers.** Any officer or agent of the Cooperative charged with the responsibility for the custody of any of its funds or property shall give bond in such sum and with such surety as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Board of Directors in its discretion may also require any other officer, agent or employee of the Cooperative to give bond in such amount and with such surety as it shall determine.

**Section 10. Reports.** One or more of the officers of the Cooperative shall submit at each annual meeting of the members reports covering the business of the Cooperative for the previous fiscal year. Such reports shall set forth the condition of the Cooperative at the close of such fiscal year.

## ARTICLE VII

### COOPERATIVE NON-PROFIT OPERATION

**Section 1. Cooperative Operation.** The Cooperative shall at all times be operated on a cooperative non-profit basis for the mutual benefit of its member patrons. No interest or dividends shall be paid or payable by the Cooperative on any capital furnished by its member patrons or its nonmember patrons.

**Section 2. Patronage Capital in Connection With Furnishing Electric Service.** In the furnishing of electric service, the Cooperative operations shall be so conducted that all member patrons will, through their patronage, furnish capital for the cooperative. In order to induce patronage and to assure that the Cooperative will operate on a non-profit basis the Cooperative is obligated to account on a patronage basis to all its member patrons for all amounts received and receivable from the furnishing of electric service in excess of operating costs and expenses and educational fund expenses properly chargeable against the furnishing of electric service, which operating costs and expenses may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, include any or all of the operating deficits of prior years.

All such amounts in excess of operating costs and expenses at the moment of receipt by the cooperative are received with understanding that they are furnished by the member patrons as capital. The Cooperative is obligated to pay by credits to a capital account for each member patron all such amounts in excess of operating costs and expenses. The books and records of the Cooperative shall be set up and kept in such a manner that at the end of each fiscal year the amount of capital, if any, so furnished by each member patron is clearly reflected and credited in an appropriate record to the capital account of each member patron and the Cooperative shall within a reasonable time after the close of the fiscal year notify each member patron of the amount of capital so credited to his account. All such amounts credited to the capital account of any member patron shall have the same status as though they had been paid to the member patrons in cash in pursuance of a legal obligation to do so and the member patron had then furnished the Cooperative corresponding amounts for capital. The Board of Directors shall have the power, at its discretion, to determine the fiscal year to which should be allocated amounts received and receivable from the furnishing of electrical service and to which should be allocated operating costs and expenses. All other amounts received by the Cooperative from its operations in excess of costs and expenses shall, insofar as permitted by law, be (a) used to offset any losses incurred during the current or any prior fiscal year; and (b) to the extent not needed for that purpose, may be allocated to its member patrons on a patronage basis and any amount so allocated shall be included as a part of the capital credited to the accounts of member patrons, as herein provided, or may be credited to a general unallocated reserve which may be utilized for any other purpose determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. For the purpose of teaching and promoting cooperative organization and principles, five percent (5%) of the net margin in excess of operating costs and expenses properly chargeable against furnishing of electric service may be set aside each year in a special fund. The disbursement of any said funds shall be by order of the Board of Directors in accordance with the said purpose.

In the event of dissolution or liquidation of the Cooperative, after all outstanding indebtedness of the Cooperative shall have been paid, outstanding capital credits shall be retired without priority on a pro rata basis before any payments are made on accounts of property rights of members. If, at any time prior to dissolution or liquidation, the Board of Directors shall determine that the financial condition of the Cooperative will not be impaired thereby, the capital then credited to member patrons' accounts may be retired in full or in part. After June 3, 1977, the Board of Directors shall determine the method, basis, priority and order of retirement, if any, for all amounts here before and hereafter furnished as capital.

Capital credited to the account of each member patron shall be assignable only on the books of the Cooperative only pursuant to written instruction from the assignor and upon such conditions as the Board of Directors, acting under the policies of general application, shall determine.

Notwithstanding any other provision of these By-laws, the Board of Directors, at its discretion, shall have the power at any time upon the death of any member patron, who is a natural person, if the legal representatives of his estate shall request in writing, that capital credited to any such member patron be retired prior to the time such capital would otherwise be retired under the provisions of these By-laws, to retire capital credited to any such member patron immediately upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors, acting under policies of general application, and the legal representative of such member patron's estate shall agree upon; provided, further, that the Board of Directors in its sole discretion may retire capital credits, or a portion thereof, of any joint tenant to the surviving spouse of any deceased member patron. Provided, however, that the financial condition of the Cooperative shall not be impaired upon retirement of such capital credits as herein provided.

In the event of a declared retirement in full or part, if a member patron cannot be located, such capital of such member patron shall be vested in such member patron, however, the Cooperative shall continue the usage of such patronage as capital, provided that at such time as the location of such member patron can be determined, then distribution of such retirement shall be made to such member patron.

## ARTICLE VIII

### DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY

The Cooperative may not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or any substantial portion of its property unless such sale, lease or other disposition is authorized at a meeting of the members thereof by the affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of all members of the Cooperative, and unless the notice of such proposed sale, lease or other disposition shall have been contained in the notice of the meeting; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything herein contained, the Board of the Cooperative, without authorization by the members thereof, shall have full power and authority to authorize the execution and delivery of a mortgage or mortgages or a deed or deeds of trust upon, or the pledging or encumbering of, any or all of the property, assets, rights, privileges, licenses, franchises, and permits of the Cooperative, whether acquired or to be acquired, and wherever situated, as well as the revenues and income there from, all upon such terms and conditions as the Board shall determine, to secure any indebtedness of the Cooperative, provided further that the Board may upon the authorization of a majority of those members of the Cooperative present at a meeting of the members thereof, sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of all or a substantial portion of its property to another Cooperative or foreign corporation doing business in this State pursuant to the Act under which this Cooperative is incorporated.

## ARTICLE IX

### MISCELLANEOUS

**Section 1. Contracts.** Except as otherwise provided in these By-laws, the Board of Directors may authorize any office or officer, agent or agents to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Cooperative, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

**Section 2. Checks, Drafts, Etc.** Except as otherwise provided by law or in these By-laws, all checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, and all notes, bonds or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of the Cooperative shall be signed by such officer, officers, agent or agents of the Cooperative and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors.

**Section 3. Deposits.** All funds of the Cooperative shall be deposited in such bank or banks or savings and loan association or associations as the Board of Directors may direct.

**Section 4. Seal.** The corporate seal of the Cooperative shall be in the form of a circle and shall have inscribed thereon, the name of the Cooperative and the words "Corporate Seal, State of North Dakota."

**Section 5. Fiscal Year.** The fiscal year of the Cooperative shall begin on the first day of January, and shall end on the thirty-first day of December, of the same year.

**Section 6. Waiver of Notice.** Any member or director may waive in writing, any notice of meeting required to be given by these By-laws. The attendance of a member or director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting by such member or director, except in case a member or director shall attend a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting shall not have been lawfully called or convened.

**Section 7. Accounting System and Reports.** The Board shall cause to be established and maintained a complete accounting system which, among other things, and subject to applicable laws and rules and regulations of any regulatory body, shall conform to such accounting system as may from time to time be designated by the Administrator of the Rural Utilities Service of the United States of America. The Board shall also, after the close of each fiscal year, cause to be made by a certified public accountant a full and complete audit of the accounts, books, and financial condition of the Cooperative as of the end of such fiscal year period. A report of such audit shall be submitted to the members at the next following annual meeting.

**Section 8. Area Coverage.** The Board shall make diligent effort to see that electric service is extended to all unserved persons within the Cooperative's service area who (a) desire such service, and (b) meet all reasonable requirements established by the Cooperative.

**Section 9. Indemnification.** This cooperative shall indemnify each director, officer, manager, employee, or agent of this cooperative, and any person serving at the request of this cooperative as a director, officer, manager, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him to the fullest extent to which such officers, directors and employees of a cooperative association may be indemnified under the law of this State, or any amendments thereto or substitutions therefor.

**ARTICLE X**  
**AMENDMENTS**

These By-laws may be altered, amended or repealed by the members at any regular or special meeting, provided the notice of such meeting shall have contained a copy of the proposed alteration, amendment or repeal, and notice of such alteration, amendment or repeal shall have been given as provided in Article III.